3

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
APR 21 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Hon. Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 14-CP-26-6382

Appellate Case No. 2015-001827

Erie Insurance Exchange,.....Respondent

v.

Government Employees Insurance Company, Mark Allison Scroggin, and Angela  
Bennett Hill, Defendants,

Of which Government Employees Insurance Company is.....Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT T. KING #066237  
[rking@kingandlove.com](mailto:rking@kingandlove.com)  
EDWARD A. LOVE #75118  
[elove@kingandlove.com](mailto:elove@kingandlove.com)  
KING, LOVE & HUPFER, LLC  
PO Box 1764

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE VEHICLE OPERATED BY MARK SCOGGIN, BUT OWNED BY HIS MOTHER AND INSURED UNDER A LIABILITY POLICY ISSUED TO HIS MOTHER, WAS A “NON-OWNED AUTO” UNDER SCOGGIN’S LIABILITY POLICY?
- II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE POLICY IS AMBIGUOUS BY REFERENCING A SINGLE AND INCOMPLETE PORTION OF THE “OTHER INSURANCE” CLAUSE OF THE POLICY INSTEAD OF CONSTRUING THE POLICY AS A WHOLE?
- III. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT BECAUSE GEICO ISSUED SCOGGIN A DECLARATIONS PAGE, IT WAS UNABLE TO DISCLAIM COVERAGE UNDER THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS TERMS OF THE POLICY?
- IV. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THAT THE DEFINITIONS OF “OWNED AUTO” AND “NON-OWNED AUTO” SET FORTH IN THE POLICY VIOLATE PUBLIC POLICY?
- V. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT ERIE INSURANCE EXCHANGE IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS ABSENT ANY STATUTORY OR CONTRACTUAL BASIS THEREFOR?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By Complaint filed September 26, 2014, Erie Insurance Exchange (“Erie”) instituted this declaratory judgment action seeking a declaration that an automobile liability policy issued by Government Employees Insurance Company (“GEICO”) to Mark Allison Scoggin (“Scoggin”) provides excess liability insurance coverage for Scoggin’s September 5, 2012 automobile accident with Angela Bennett Hill (“Hill”). (See R. pp. 37 (¶¶ 5, 12); R. pp. 40-43 (¶¶ 19, 21); R. p. 4.) On October 31, 2014, GEICO timely answered, denying, in pertinent part, the existence of coverage under Scoggin’s policy for the accident at issue. (See R. pp. 81-86.)

On March 17, 2015, the matter came for a non-jury trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge. GEICO and Erie agreed to a stipulated set of facts and exhibits which were submitted to the trial court. (*See R.* pp. 114-192.) The parties additionally submitted memoranda of law. (*See R.* pp. 218-224; *R.* pp. 193-217.)

By Order filed May 7, 2015, the circuit court ruled in favor of Erie, declaring that GEICO's policy issued to Scoggin afforded excess liability coverage for the accident at issue. (*See R.* pp. 5-16.) GEICO subsequently filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment or Order pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCPC. (*See R.* pp. 258-260.) On June 18, 2015, the trial court denied GEICO's motion without a hearing, but styled the order as denying the "Plaintiff's" motion to alter or amend. (*See R.* p. 4.) By Order filed July 6, 2015, but not served by mail until July 25, 2015, the circuit court then issued an Amended Order denying GEICO's motion to amend or alter judgment. (*See R.* p. 1.) GEICO noticed this appeal on August 24, 2015. (*See R.* p. 18.)

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On September 5, 2012, Scoggin and Hill ("Hill") were involved in a motor vehicle accident in Horry County which resulted in alleged personal injuries to Hill. (*R.* pp. 114-115 (¶ 5).) At the time of the accident, Scoggin was operating a 2002 Ford Taurus owned by his mother, Mildred Scoggin ("Ms. Scoggin"), with whom he resided. (*R.* p. 115 (¶ 6).) Scoggin was using his mother's car at the time of the accident because his mother's dog was riding with him and there was a dog seat set up in her vehicle. (*R.* p. 87, lines 15-25.) It was his regular practice to take his mother's dog whenever he went on short trips, and he used his mother's car because it was equipped for the dog. (*R.* p. 87, lines 15-25.)

Hill filed suit against Scoggin in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas captioned Angela Bennett Hill v. Mark Allison Scoggin, No. 13-CP-26-2592. (R. pp. 114-115 (¶ 5).) Ms. Scoggin's Ford Taurus was insured under a policy issued by GEICO (Policy No. 0929-32-50-09) carrying liability limits of \$50,000.00/\$1000,000.00. (R. p. 115 (¶ 6); R. p. 120.) GEICO tendered the \$50,000.00 policy limit under Ms. Scoggin's policy to Hill in exchange for a covenant not to execute in favor of Scoggins. (R. p. 115 (¶ 10); R. p. 117 (¶ 16); R. p. 6.)

At the time of the accident, Scoggin owned a 2005 Chevrolet Colorado which was insured under a different policy issued by GEICO (Policy No. 4085-57-17-45) (the "Policy") carrying liability limits of \$25,000.00/\$50,000.00. (R. p. 115 (¶ 7); R. p. 129.) As to bodily injury liability coverage, the Policy's insuring clause provides, in pertinent part:

**LOSSES WE WILL PAY FOR YOU UNDER SECTION I**

Under Section I, we will pay damages which an *insured* becomes legally obligated to pay because of:

1. *bodily injury*, sustained by a person; and
2. damage to or destruction of property; arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the *owned auto* or a *non-owned auto*.

(R. p. 148; R. p. 117 (¶ 13).) An "*Owned auto*" is defined as:

- (a) a vehicle described in this policy for which a premium charge is shown for these coverages;
- (b) a *trailer* owned by *you*;
- (c) a *private passenger, farm or utility auto*, ownership of which *you* acquire during the policy period or for which *you* enter into a lease during the policy period for a term of six months or more, if:
  - (i) it replaces an *owned auto* as defined in (a), above; or
  - (ii) we insure all *private passenger, farm and utility autos* owned or leased by *you* on the date of the acquisition, and *you* ask us to add it to the policy no more than 30 days later;
- (d) a *temporary substitute auto*.

(R. p. 147; R. p. 116 (¶ 12).) A “*Temporary substitute auto*” is “an automobile or *trailer*, not owned by *you*, temporarily used with the permission of the owner. This vehicle must be used as a substitute for the *owned auto* or *trailer* when withdrawn from normal use because of its breakdown, repair, servicing, loss or destruction.” (R. p. 147; R. p. 116 (¶ 12).)

The Policy defines a “*Non-owned auto*” as:

*a private passenger, farm, or utility auto or trailer not owned by or furnished for the regular use of either you or your relatives, other than a temporary substitute auto. You or your relatives must be using the non-owned auto or trailer within the scope of permission given by its owner. A non-owned auto rented or leased for more than 30 days will be considered as furnished for regular use.*

(R. p. 161; R. p. 116 (¶ 12).) “*Relative*” is defined under the Policy as “a person who continuously lives in *your* household, and is related to *you* by blood, marriage, or adoption (including a ward or foster child).” (R. p. 161; R. p. 116 (¶ 12).)

GEICO denied coverage and a defense under the Policy on the grounds that at the time of the accident, Scoggin was not operating an “owned or non-owned vehicle” as defined under the Policy. (R. p. 143; R. pp. 115-116 (¶ 11).) GEICO has, however, provided Scoggin with a defense to Hill’s claims under his mother’s policy covering the Ford Taurus involved in the accident. (R. p. 115 (¶ 10).)

The vehicle Hill was operating was insured under a North Carolina insurance policy (Policy No. Q05 1107128) issued by Erie which carried underinsured motorist limits of \$100,000.00/\$300,000.00. (R. p. 115 (¶ 8); R. pp. 138-141.) Erie instituted this declaratory judgment action seeking additional, excess liability coverage under the Policy for Scoggin so as to obtain an additional \$25,000.00 offset against its UIM liability to Hill. (See R. p. 117 (¶ 15); R. pp. 36-45.)

## ARGUMENT

“A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue.” Felts v. Richland County, 303 S.C. 354, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991). “When the purpose of the underlying dispute is to determine whether coverage exists under an insurance policy, the action is one at law.” Crossmann Cmty. of N.C., Inc. v. Harleystown Mut. Ins. Co., 395 S.C. 40, 717 S.E.2d 589, 592 (2011). While a trial court’s findings of fact should not be disturbed unless there is no reasonable evidence to support them, “an appellate court may make its own determination on questions of law and need not defer to the trial court’s rulings in this regard.” Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Rhodes, 405 S.C. 584, 748 S.E.2d 781, 795 (2013). “Where the action presents a question of law,” as does a declaratory action presented on stipulated facts, an appellate court’s “review is plenary and without deference to the trial court.” Crossman, *supra*, 717 S.E.2d at 592.

**I. UNDER THE PLAIN, UNAMBIGUOUS TERMS OF THE POLICY, THE VEHICLE SCOGGINS WAS OPERATING AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT WAS NEITHER AN “OWNED AUTO” NOR A “NON-OWNED AUTO,” AND IS THUS NOT COVERED UNDER THE POLICY.**

The party seeking coverage bears the burden of proof. Rakestraw v. Allstate Ins. Co., 238 S.C. 217, 119 S.E.2d 746, 749 (1961). Insurance policies are subject to “the general rules of contract construction.” Hansen v. United Services Auto. Ass’n, 350 S.C. 62, 565 S.E.2d 114, 116 (Ct. App. 2002). Courts “must enforce, not write, contracts of insurance.” Gambrell v. Travelers Ins. Cos., 280 S.C. 69, 310 S.E.2d 814, 816 (1983); USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg, 377 S.C. 643, 661 S.E.2d 791, 797 (2008). “Parties to a contract have the right to construct their own contract without interference

from courts to rewrite or torture the meaning of the policy to extend coverage.” Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas., 353 S.C. 491, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003) (citing Gambrell, *supra*). “The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties’ intentions as determined by the contract language.” Beaufort County Sch. Dist. v. United Nat’l Ins. Co., 392 S.C. 506, 709 S.E.2d 85, 90 (Ct. App. 2011). Policy language is to be given its “plain, ordinary, and popular meaning,” and if the contract “is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used.” B.L.G. Enterprises, Inc. v. First Fin. Ins. Co., 334 S.C. 529, 514 S.E.2d 327, 330 (1999); *see also* Schulmeyer, *supra*, 579 S.E.2d at 134 (“[i]f the contract's language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract's force and effect”).

The plain, unambiguous language of the Policy’s insuring clause provides that liability coverage applies only to “damages which an *insured* becomes legally obligated to pay because of...*bodily injury*, sustained by a person...arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of the owned auto or a non-owned auto.” (*Emphasis added.*) Under the Policy an “owned auto” is one that is: “described in this policy for which a premium charge is shown for these coverages”; “a trailer owned by you”; “a private passenger...auto, ownership of which you acquire during the policy period or for which you enter into a lease during the policy period for a term of six months or more”; or “a temporary substitute auto.” Here, Scoggin’s mother’s Ford Taurus which he was operating at the time of the accident was not an “owned auto” under the Policy. First, it was not described in the Policy for which a premium charge was shown, but was, instead, listed and insured under another liability policy: the one issued to his mother as the

owner of the vehicle. (*Compare* R. pp. 129-130 *with* R. pp. 120-121).) The only vehicle listed on the Policy for which a premium was shown was Scoggin's Chevrolet Colorado truck. Second, the Ford Taurus was not a trailer owned by Scoggin. Third, the vehicle was not acquired or leased by Scoggin during the policy period; rather, it was owned by Scoggin's mother. Finally, the Ford Taurus was not a "temporary substitute auto" as Scoggin was driving his mother's car simply because it was equipped with a seat for his mother's dog, not because Scoggin's Chevrolet Colorado truck – the vehicle insured under the Policy – was disabled and withdrawn from normal use.

A "non-owned auto" is "a *private passenger, farm, or utility auto or trailer* not owned by or furnished for the regular use of either *you* or *your relatives*, other than a *temporary substitute auto*." Contrary to the trial court's conclusion, Scoggin's mother's vehicle was not a "non-owned auto" under the express terms of the Policy. First, it is undisputed that the vehicle was owned by Scoggin's mother with whom Scoggin resided at the time of the accident. Second, Scoggin's testimony was that he used the Ford Taurus whenever he went on short trips because it had a dog seat in the front seat; therefore, the vehicle was available for his regular use. Either of these two grounds, independently, establishes that the Ford Taurus was not a "non-owned auto" under the terms of the Policy.

In Danforth v. Gov't Employees Ins. Co., 638 S.E.2d 852 (Ga. App. 2006), the Georgia Court of Appeals confronted a factually similar case involving identical policy provisions. In that case GEICO's insured was involved in an accident while driving a vehicle titled in his mother's name. GEICO declined to provide coverage for the accident under a separate policy issued on another, at-home vehicle on the grounds that the vehicle

involved in the accident did not meet the definition of an “owned auto” or “non-owned auto” under the at-home policy. The court agreed, and held that the vehicle was not a “non-owned auto” since the vehicle was owned by a relative (i.e., the insured’s mother) with whom the insured resided at the time of the accident. *Id.*, 638 S.E.2d at 859.

In another very similar case, GEICO Gen’l Ins. Co. v. Hanzlik, 32 Kan. App. 2d 951, 954, 92 P.3d 1121 (Kan. App. 2004), the Kansas Court of Appeals had an opportunity to consider a similar “non-owned auto” provision in a GEICO policy. In that case a GEICO insured was involved in an accident while operating his wife’s vehicle which was insured under a policy with State Farm. The court held that since the vehicle was “owned by ‘either you or a relative,’” i.e., the insured’s wife, it “by policy definition cannot be a ‘nonowned auto’” as to the insured. *Id.* Additionally, the court rejected the insured’s argument that the “nonowned auto” policy provision was ambiguous, holding, instead, that the policy plainly and unambiguously afforded the insured “liability coverage only while he was operating, maintaining, or using an ‘owned auto’ or a ‘non-owned auto,’ but not while he was operating his wife’s vehicle which was insured under a different policy.” *Id.*, at 958. As that court noted, the rationale for “nonowned auto” policy provisions such as the one at issue is well-established: “the evident intention of the limitation with respect to other automobiles is to prevent a situation in which the members of one family or household may have two or more automobiles actually or potentially used interchangeably but with only one particular automobile insured.” *Id.* (quoting Boyd v U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 256 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1971)). It held that construing GEICO’s “policy precisely as written comports with common sense and sound public policy.” *Id.*, at 959.

The circuit court's determination that the Ford Taurus was a "non-owned auto" under the Policy rests upon fundamental interpretive errors and upon factual findings utterly lacking any support in the record. First, in concluding that the vehicle was a "non-owned auto" under the Policy, the circuit court's Order states, erroneously, that "[u]nder GEICO's policy, a car is NOT 'non-owned' if it is owned by a resident relative AND furnished for regular use." (R. p. 9 (*emphasis added*)).<sup>1</sup> The court goes on to state that "[t]he key to invoking a vehicle as being NOT 'non-owned' under the definitions is whether the resident relative's vehicle is available for the 'regular use' of a GEICO insured." (R. p. 12.) The policy, however, actually provides that a "non-owned auto" is "a *private passenger, farm, or utility auto or trailer* not owned by OR furnished for the regular use of either *you* or *your relatives*, other than a *temporary substitute auto*." (R. p. 161; R. p. 116 (§ 12) (*emphasis added*)). The use of the word "or" indicates "a disjunctive particle that marks an alternative," and "imports choice between two alternatives and as ordinarily used, means one or the other of two, but not both." Brewer v. Brewer, 242 S.C. 9, 129 S.E.2d 736, 738 (1963); *see also* Martin v. Bay, 400 S.C. 140, 732 S.E.2d 667, 675 (Ct. App. 2012). Under the Policy, therefore, a "non-owned auto" is one that is EITHER "not owned by...you or your relatives" OR "not...furnished for the regular use of either you or your relatives." It is stipulated and undisputed that Scoggin's mother, his relative, owned the Ford Taurus at issue. This is, in and of itself, sufficient to render the vehicle not a "non-owned auto" under the Policy. The mere fact that Scoggin's deposition testimony establishes that the vehicle was also available for his

---

<sup>1</sup>In its Order, the circuit court comments that in making its coverage determination, GEICO relied upon "carefully crafted definitions" (R. pp. 12, 15), as if that is somehow deserving of reproach. One would assume that it is desirable that all provisions in a policy be "carefully crafted" and further that insurers (and insureds) rely upon them.

regular use (i.e., whenever he took his mother's dog on short trips, which he "always" did) is both superfluous and ultimately not dispositive.

In reaching its conclusion to the contrary, the circuit court ignored the use of the disjunctive "or" and erroneously inserted the word "and," thus supplying a conjunctive which would require satisfaction of both conditions – not owned by a relative AND not furnished for regular use – before the vehicle would be deemed not a "non-owned auto." In so doing, the circuit court erroneously rewrote, rather than enforced, the policy language. See Gambrell, *supra*, 310 S.E.2d at 816 (courts "must enforce, not write, contracts of insurance").

Second, the circuit court also concluded that in tendering the liability limits to Hill under Ms. Scoggin's policy, "GEICO stipulated that the Mildred Scoggin vehicle was a non-owned vehicle as to Mark Scoggin" and that "it stipulated that the Mildred Scoggin car was not available for Mark Scoggin's regular use." (R. pp. 9-10.) There were no such stipulations made explicitly or implicitly, and these findings are completely without any evidentiary support in the record and should be rejected. See Rhodes, *supra*, 748 S.E.2d at 795 (appellate court should not disturb trial court's findings of fact unless there is no reasonable evidence to support them).

Third, not only are these factual "findings" without any support in the record, they are the result of a faulty and illogical reading of Ms. Scoggin's policy. The Ford Taurus driven by Scoggins in the accident was, in fact, owned by Ms. Scoggins and was, in fact, described under her policy for which a premium was shown; it was, therefore, an "OWNED AUTO" under the terms of Ms. Scoggin's policy. (See R. pp. 120-21 (Mildred Scoggin Declarations Page); *see also* R. p. 147 (definition of "owned auto").) Moreover,

Scoggin was not only Ms. Scoggin's resident relative at the time but was also a permissive user of the Ford Taurus. (See R. p. 115 (¶ 6); see also R. p. 149 (with regard to an "owned auto," "Persons Insured" includes relatives and permissive users).) Therefore, from the perspective of Ms. Scoggin's policy, the Ford Taurus was not, and in fact could not have been, a "non-owned auto," but was, instead, an "owned auto" for which coverage was due.

Fourth, the trial court's summary conclusions that the Ford Taurus "retains the same status when considering the Excess Coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy because the terms and conditions of the two policies and been stipulated to be identical" and "for the purposes of Excess coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy, GEICO is bound by its determinations under the Mildred Scoggin policy" (R. pp. 9-10) are without authority or support, and ignore the insurer's obligations to analyze Hill's claims under each policy separately. As discussed above, since the Ford Taurus was indeed described and shown to have been charged a premium in Ms. Scoggin's policy, it was an "owned auto" under that policy. The same conclusion cannot be reached with regard to the Policy issued to Scoggins. Moreover, though the language of the body of the two policies was identical, the objects of the policies (both insured vehicles and named insureds) were different meriting a different coverage analysis under each.<sup>2</sup> GEICO was, therefore,

---

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