THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Hon. Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

APR 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

---

Case No: 14-CP-26-6382

Appellate Case No: 2015-001827

---

Erie Insurance Exchange .....

Respondent

v.

Government Employees Insurance Company, Mark Allison  
Scoggin and Angela Bennett Hill, Defendants,

Of Which, Government Employees  
Insurance Company is .....

Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF  
OF RESPONDENT**

---

Submitted By:

J. Dwight Hudson, Esquire  
SC Bar # 2753  
**Hudson Law Offices**  
PO Box 70218  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29572  
hudsonlaw@hudsonlawoffice.com

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

**ARGUMENT:**

*1. Did the Trial Court correctly rule that under South Carolina law, inclusive of the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in Williams v. Gov't Emples. Ins. Co., 409 S.C. 586, 762 S.E.2d 705, 2014 S.C. LEXIS 361, 2014 WL 4087958 (S.C. 2014), that GEICO's policy provides excess coverage that precedes Erie's underinsured coverage?*

Under the provisions of the GEICO policy issued to both Mildred and Mark Scoggin, the Omnibus or insuring clause covers only owned and non-owned vehicles. A vehicle is NOT non-owned if it is owned by a resident relative and furnished for an insured's regular use. Thus, under the identical GEICO policies, as to Mark Scoggin, his mother's car was either owned, non-owned or neither owned nor non-owned as to both accidents. GEICO's brief attempts to explain its confusing analysis, policy provisions and definitions by stating that Mildred Scoggin's vehicle was "owned" for purposes of the liability claim and that it was not "non-owned" for purposes of the excess liability claim. GEICO's explanation means that it has drafted its policy so that if a vehicle "owned" by a resident relative is used with permission by another resident relative there is no coverage unless the use is not "regular" - even if GEICO insures all vehicles in the household. If true, and this Court so holds, then Respondent contends that this is an additional ground for holding that GEICO's policy violates public policy because the carrier can and likely will almost always - as it has here - claim the use to be "regular." This leaves GEICO's insureds in the same position as the Respondent - wondering how the same vehicle wouldn't and shouldn't qualify for the same coverage analysis under identical policies. Further, GEICO's explanation in its brief is that of course the Mildred Scoggin vehicle was owned - after all, it was her car. By

this same explanation, the Mildred Scoggin vehicle was not owned by Mark Scoggin but it was used with permission, placing it squarely within the boundaries of excess liability coverage by the express wording of GEICO's policy. (R.p.147-148; p. 161) Further, the vehicle was titled to Mildred Scoggin, but it was not titled to the driver, Mark Scoggin, making it "owned" or "non-owned" or a vehicle he "did not own" - depending upon which part of its policy, interpretation and explanation GEICO is relying upon at the time.

It is uncontested that Mildred and Mark Scoggin were mother and son, that they resided together, and that Mark Scoggin did not own his mother's car. Further, all parties agree that the terms and conditions of both GEICO policies (other than the separate Declarations Pages) covering the Mark and Mildred Scoggin vehicles were identical. (R.p.116, #12) It is also uncontested that GEICO paid liability coverage under the Mildred Scoggin policy. (R.p.115, #10). Then, GEICO denied excess liability coverage under Mark Scoggin's policy based upon its determination that as to Mark's policy, his mother's vehicle was neither "owned" nor "non-owned." (R.p.142-143)

To a large extent, coverage in this case focuses upon the term "non-owned", which appears in the Omnibus or "insuring" clause of the GEICO policy and is defined in the policy but does not appear on the declarations page of the policy. (R.p.147, #5; 161, #3; p. 122-130) According to GEICO's definition of "non-owned," a car not owned by a household member or not furnished for the regular use of another household member would be "non-owned."

GEICO contends that the Trial Court erred in not analyzing the coverages separately under each policy. In fact, it is GEICO that erred because coverage under Mr. Scoggin's policy should be evaluated based on GEICO's separate and distinct obligations to Mr. Scoggin as to coverage written for him. Applicability of the coverage should not be granted or denied based

upon whether the company also happened to provide coverage for a relative who resided with Mr. Scoggin. In this case, if Mr. Scoggin were driving his mother's car and she did not reside with him then GEICO would honor the coverage that its insured bargained for and bought.

In this case, with the same facts before it and based upon the same policy provisions, GEICO first paid liability coverage under the Mildred Scoggin policy and then denied excess liability coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy. If Mildred's car was neither "owned" nor "non-owned" for purposes of the Mark Scoggin policy, then the same analysis applied to the Mildred Scoggin policy. In this regard, the Trial Court's Order found as follows:

GEICO paid liability coverage in exchange for a Covenant Not To Execute. Because Mark Scoggin did not own his mother's car, and he paid no premium for it, the liability coverage had to have been paid under the Mildred Scoggin policy for Mark Scoggin's use of that car as a "non-owned" auto. That car would still be a "Non-owned" vehicle for purposes of considering the excess liability coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy. GEICO stipulated that the Mildred Scoggin vehicle was a non-owned vehicle as to Mark Scoggin under the present facts by paying the liability coverage in exchange for a Covenant and in so doing, it stipulated that the Mildred Scoggin car was not available for Mark Scoggin's regular use. That car retains the same status when considering the Excess Coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy because the terms and conditions of the two policies have been stipulated to be identical.

Hence, GEICO denied excess coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy on the grounds that the Mildred Scoggin vehicle was not a "non-owned" vehicle as to Mark Scoggin, despite the fact that it had reached the opposite conclusion in paying the liability coverage under the same facts and based upon the same policy terms and conditions. The Court finds that for purposes of Excess coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy, GEICO is bound by its determinations under the Mildred Scoggin policy.

(R.p.9-10)

GEICO's brief contends that the company must analyze coverage separately under each policy. It contends that although it then analyzes Mark Scoggin's coverage based upon the fact that he resided with a resident relative also insured by GEICO. As to analysis and coverage

determination, GEICO cannot, in accord with South Carolina law and public policy, contradict its first coverage determination by reaching the opposite conclusion in the second in a case where the policies contain the same provision and the only difference is that two related GEICO insureds reside in the same household. Here, by paying the liability coverage under the Mildred Scoggin policy, GEICO stipulated that Mark Scoggin's use of his mother's vehicle on the occasion of this accident, was a covered loss under its policy with Mildred Scoggin. GEICO cannot then, in accord with law and public policy, reach the opposite decision under the same facts and the same policy provisions as to the Mark Scoggin policy.

In fact, GEICO's "excess liability" policy provision makes the case stronger for coverage under the Mark Scoggin policy. As to excess coverage, the GEICO policy states as follows: "Any insurance we provide for losses arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a vehicle **you** do not own shall be excess over any other valid and collectible insurance. (R.p.153) In this regard, the Trial Court's Order states as follows:

The Excess Clause does not use the "owned" and "non-owned" criteria, but rather, uses common, ordinary language that is not defined in the policy; to wit, in pertinent part, it says that "Insurance for losses arising out of the use of a vehicle you do not own shall be excess." (GEICO Policy; "Other Insurance") It uses the undefined phrase "use of a vehicle you do not own" rather than employing the policy's "owned" and "non-owned" terminology which is defined.

South Carolina law holds that when terms are not defined in a policy, an interpreting Court should define them "according to the usual understanding of the term's significance to the ordinary person." S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Durham, 380 S.C. 506, 671 S.E.2d 610, 2009 S.C. LEXIS 6 (S.C. 2009) Mark Scoggin did not own his mother's vehicle and he was using it by driving it at the time of the subject accident. Thus, the Court finds that the Excess Liability Cause would provide coverage for the subject accident.

(R.p.10, #B)

Appellant GEICO's brief attempts to parse this language by claiming that the phrase "any insurance we provide" controls the clause. This is an attempt to bring the definitions clauses into the excess clause, and asks the Court to consider the anti-insured "non-owned" definition in lieu of the plain language of the excess clause. South Carolina law holds otherwise, as did the Trial Court. The correct consideration of the phrase in this case is that "any insurance we provide" includes the liability coverage found to exist under the Mildred Scoggin policy. The clause says that losses arising out of the use of "a vehicle you do not own" are excess loss coverage. And South Carolina law says that plain language is interpreted in a plain manner. Here, that interpretation means that excess liability insurance applies to this loss.

This loss is also covered because there is no applicable exclusion. The GEICO policy includes a definition for "non-owned" auto but that is not part of the exclusions for using a vehicle provided for regular use owned by a family member so there is no exclusion that takes away coverage. GEICO's reliance on the definition for non-owned autos has no applicability in this case because that exclusion applies only while carrying persons employed or otherwise engaged in the auto business; Regular use is not noted in the exclusions or the Amendment and it doesn't refer to regular use or using another vehicle owned by family member.(R.p.148-149; p. 161)

One of the key's to GEICO's denial is whether the Mildred Scoggin vehicle was furnished for Mark's regular use. "Under a liability policy excluding coverage where an automobile involved in an accident was "furnished for regular use" to the insured, the term may be used in the sense of time, steady as opposed to occasional; or in the sense of type of use, usual as against unusual. Hartford Acc. & Indem Co. v. Hiland, 7 Cir., 349 F. (2d) 376." Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Sessions, 260 SC 150, 194 SE2d 844 (1973). Here, Mr. Scoggin owned a vehicle

but was driving his late mother's vehicle because she had a seat set up for him in her car and he was going on a short trip to the post office to collect the mail. Mr. Scoggin testified that he, "always" took the dog on short trips because otherwise it would "pitch a fit," but Mr. Scoggin did **not** testify that he always took his mother's car on short trips. He merely testified that he took her car on this trip because it was equipped with a seat for the dog. (R.p.87-90)

The "regular use" exclusion is intended to prevent an insured from purchasing one policy as to one automobile and be covered without qualification for all vehicles available for his use. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Sessions, supra. In this case, there were two vehicles in the household of Mildred and Mark Scoggin and both were insured by GEICO such that GEICO regularly collected a premium for both vehicles.

GEICO contends that the Trial Court reached its decision without examining, considering and interpreting the policy provisions and definitions "under each policy." The Court did, in fact, give due and proper consideration to the policies as a whole, but the Court did not write or re-write the GEICO policies which contained identical terms, conditions, definitions and provisions in all pertinent aspects. The Trial Court's due and proper consideration did not require the Court to imagine that the status of the vehicle operated in this accident somehow changed from one policy to the other, although none of the facts or policy provisions changed.

The Trial Court gave all necessary consideration to the policy provisions, definitions, terms and conditions, but it appears that GEICO failed to do so, deciding that it could pay one liability policy and then deny coverage under the same policy written for Mark Scoggin based on some internal sliding scale application of the terms owned, non-owned and ignoring the term "you do not own" as expressly stated in the excess clause. GEICO's opinion is that it is proper to

deny coverage and avoid its obligation to Mark Scoggin because he happened to reside with his mother, although South Carolina law and public policy indicate otherwise. After its due and proper consideration, the Trial Court held that GEICO's excess liability coverage applied to this loss. This Court should uphold the Trial Court's ruling. (R.p.5-16)

**2. *Did the Trial Court correctly rule that several relevant ambiguities in the GEICO policy exist and that such ambiguities must be construed against GEICO and in favor of its insured to find, rather than exclude, excess liability coverage?***

As to liability coverage and excess liability coverage, the provisions of the GEICO policy are ambiguous as to other policy provisions and particularly, as to the coverage declared to exist and on the Declarations Page. Those ambiguities include but are not limited to the following;

1. The Declarations Page for the Mark Scoggin policy states as follows: "This is a description of your coverage." (R.p.129) It also states that Coverage applies where a premium or \$0.00 is shown for a vehicle." Despite the fact that the described coverage included \$25,000.00/\$50,000.00 in bodily injury and UM coverage, and included comprehensive and collision coverages, provisions of the policy, and the policy definitions of "owned," "non-owned," and "relative", are such that GEICO has determined the policy provides no coverage to Mark Scoggin for the present loss; and;

2. The policy definition of "owned" auto conflicts with the Declarations Page certifying coverage of \$25,000.00/\$50,000.00 to Mark Scoggin for this loss; (R.p.129; R.p.147, #6) and

3. The policy provision as to "Losses We Will Pay For You Under Section I" provides that the Policy covers on bodily injury liability arising out of the "ownership, maintenance or use" of an owned or non-owned auto. (R.p.148) The "Other Insurance" provision does not use the defined terms of owned or non-owned but instead provides that bodily injury coverage for a vehicle "you do not own" shall be excess. (R.p. 149) Given this ambiguity, as to this accident, the more liberal provision should control and - in the alternative - the policy declares that bodily injury coverage for an accident that occurred while Mark Scoggin operated a vehicle that he did not own would be excess; and

4. The policy defines a "temporary substitute auto" as an "owned" vehicle but it would be a vehicle "you do not own" for purposes of the excess clause (R.p.145; p. 149); and

5. The policy defines a "non-owned auto" as one not owned by or furnished for the regular use of either you (Mark Scoggin) or a relative (Mildred Scoggin) other than a "temporary substitute auto" but the "Other Insurance"/Excess provision references a "non-owned auto" as "a vehicle you do not own; (R.p.145, 149, 161) and

6. The policy provides that "you and your relatives" are insureds with regard to "an owned auto" but the policy definitions do not define a resident relatives' car as an "owned" or a "non-owned" auto and then it restricts bodily injury liability coverage to losses arising out of the use, maintenance or ownership of an "owned" or "non-owned" vehicle. (R.p.148, p. 145, p. 161)

"Ambiguous or conflicting terms in an insurance policy must be construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer." Diamond State Ins. Co. v. Homestead Indus., Inc., 318 S.C. 231, 236, 456 S.E.2d 912, 915 (1995). "A contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one meaning when viewed objectively by a reasonably intelligent person who has examined the context of the entire integrated agreement and who is cognizant of the customs, practices, usages and terminology as generally understood in the particular trade or business." Hawkins, 328 S.C. at 592, 493 S.E.2d at 878 (quoting 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 338, at 345 (1991))." Williams v. GEICO, *supra*

As to the ambiguities alleged, the Court's Order found as follows:

After review, the Court finds that the provisions of the GEICO policy are ambiguous. The relevant ambiguities are:

1. The Declarations Page for the Mark Scoggin policy states as follows: "This is a description of your coverage." It also states that Coverage applies where a premium or \$0.00 is shown for a vehicle." Despite the fact that the described coverage included \$25,000.00/\$50,000.00 in bodily injury and UM

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